Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State of Utah v. Arden E. Tuttle : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

The Appellant, Arden E. Tuttle, appeals from the conviction of the crime of Grand Larceny in the District Court of Sanpete County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Appellant was charged with the crime of Grand Larceny in violation of 76-38-1 and 4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, in the District Court of Sanpete County,

State of Utah. Upon a jury trial, the Appellant was convicted and sentenced by the Honorable Henry Ruggeri, Judge.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant seeks to reverse the judgment of the District Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the jury trial of the above cause the State evidence showed that one Milton S.Harman was a partner in the business of operating a general merchandise store in Manti, Utah, on the 18th day of November, 1961. On this day the Appellant was hauling coal to his residence, also in Manti, Utah, from the general store. Mr. Milton S. Harman left the business approximately at 8:00 p.m. (R-47), and secured the door and took the cash and check the till out and left some dimes, nickels, and pennies in the cash register. (R-48). Upon his return to the store on the 19th day of November, 1961, at approximately 9:00 to 10:00 a.m. Mr. Milton Harman discovered that the coins were gone. Also, he discovered that five of the following firearms were missing: (R-150) Winchester Automatic Shotgun; Remington Pumpgun; 464 Magnum Gun; 22 Pumpgun; 22 Single Shot Rifle. Later he determined that other miscellaneous items were missing, to-wit: A box of 410 shotgun shells, telescopic sight 4 power, recoil pads, cleaning kit, 2 magnum boxes, Winchester 12 gauge 3 inches, 2 boxes of 22 long, 2 boxes of 22 short, all of the 30 ott 6 and 22 bird shot. The owner, Mr. Harman, did not discover the 22 bird shot as missing until the same were submitted into evidence, (R-55). No inventory of the missing items was taken on the 19th day of November, 1961, (R-67).

Mr. Harman stated that no running inventory was kept of any of the items which were alleged to have been taken, (R-74), and in fact, the 22 single shot rifle was not reported as missing until the same was located in the reservoir, (R-76). Additional items were not discovered missing while the City Marshall was present to investigate the alleged theft, (R-83).

A Complaint charging the Appellant with Grand Larceny was signed on the 16th day of May, 1963, (R-64), from 18 months after the date of the alleged larceny.

Calvin D. Nielson, City Marshall of Manti, Utah, testified as to the conversation had with the Appellant on the 21st day of December, 1961, and on the 26th day of December, 1961, wherein the Appellant denied any knowledge of the theft, (R-95). Then after waiting approximately one year, on the 29th day of November, 1962, the City Marshall & Leon Harmon co-owner went

to the Appellant's parents' home, and ask the Appellant's mother permission to look for the property, (R-96). At this time the Appellant was not residing at his parents home but was on active service in the Air Force. Upon arrival at the Appellant's home, the City Marshall did not have a search warrant (R-114); and when asked for a search warrant, Mrs. Tuttle testified that the City Marshall stated, "Oh, we don't need one.", (R-270). The City Marshall indicated that a search warrant could probably be obtained, (R-115). A conflict in the evidence arose at this point, and Mrs. Tuttle testified that at the time the City Marshall came to the house they stated that they wanted to find out and get straight and to make a search and do what they could and further stated that if the Appellant, was found guilty he would lose his citizenship; and if they brought him out of the Army he would be dishonorably discharged and would not be able to own any property of any sort. Further, Mrs. Tuttle testified that they attempted to be friendly enough about it and stated that we were on good terms with the Harmons, and she indicated that if they wanted to go ahead and search knowing that they were violating the law, they could, which they did. (R-271, R-273)

In conducting the search of the house, after finding nothing in the opening of the rafters of the room occupied by the appellant before his departure to the Air Force, (R-196), the City Marshall, together with Leonard Harmon, discovered an old phonograph and finding

it padlocked proceeded to undue the screws. (R-116)). As a result of said search, the following items were obtained; Exhibit 2, 22 shells and cartons; Exhibit 3, 2 boxes; Exhibit 4, 2 rehead recoil pads in boxes; Exhibit 5, 2 boxes marked with a black crayon or pencil; Exhibit 6, 2 boxes; Exhibit 7, boxes; Exhibit 8, boxes with writing in ink and stuck together with scotch tape, R-101). These items of evidence were taken from the Appellant's mother's home to Milton S. Harmon's home without any identifying marks placed on them. From Milton S. Harmon's home the City Marshall picked the same up the following day or the next day and placed them in the city vault and later showed them to the County Attorney. All of these Exhibits were unmarked, (R-122-124). In fact, the above referred to Exhibits from 2 to 8 were not marked until the time of Preliminary Hearing, (R-118, 124). Thereafter the State submitted the following Exhibits: Exhibit 10, a pump gun with a Serial number; Exhibit 12, an automatic shotgun; Exhibit 13, a pump 22; Exhibit 14, a barrel, no serial number, (R-195). These items of evidence were found in the Gunnison Reservoir Bed in approximately November, 1963, by Richard Harmon. (R-137) Upon discovering these weapons, the same were taken over to Milton S. Harmon's residence where they were cleaned. It should be noted that none of the foregoing Exhibits were connected to the Appellant. In laying a foundation for the admittance of the evidence, it should be noted tha Nielson S. Harmon never did examine Exhibit 2 when the same was taken to his house, (R-151). However, Milton S. Harmon then testified as follows in connection with the Exhibits submitted. As to Exhibit 2, he identiified the price as his writing; Exhibit 3, testified that it was his marking, although he admits he "could not tell you f that was the same paint or not," (R-152); Exhibit 4, his markings, (R-152); Exhibit 6, his markings; Exhibit 7, testified that this is exactly the same knd of box; Exhibit 8, B. B. Bird Shot, 22 was marked with a piece of paper with scotch tape around it which was the method he marked this type of merchandise. Further, he testified as to the market value of the various guns, (R-62-163). The State further submitted State's Exhibit 15 which contained a package received from Mrs. Tuttle, which contained the following items: 10 boxes of shot and shell 410s; a full carton of 22 longs; and 7 boxes of 30.06 shells. Exhibit 16 was a receipt for said items dated the 7th day of December, 1962. The timely objection to the admittance of the evidence was made on the grouds that said evidence was obtained as a result of an unlawful search and seizure, (R-211).

A conflict in the evidence again arose concerning a conversation had with the Appellant in the presence of his mother and father, Louis Eakland, Milton Harmon, Leonard Harmon, and Calvin Neilson, on the 23rd day of December, 1962. Officer Neilson testified that when the Appellant was confronted with taking these items, the defendant admitted that he had and that he desired to pay for them. (R-104-105)

The record is devoid of any statement by the Marshall informing the Appellant that he had a right to remain silent, and that anything said could be used against him in a trial; and that he was entitled to an attorney.

Edgar Tuttle, the Appellant's father, testified that the City Marshall had threatened to bring the defendant out of the service with a dishonorable discharge and loss of citizenship. (R-251). Further he testified that the defendant denied taking any of the items. (R-251).

The Appellant took the witness stand on his behalf and stated that he owned a 30.06 Model 1917 Enfield, Caliber 30.06, gauge three inch magnum shotgun, four ten shot gun, .22 single shot and .22 Winchester Model Six pump .22 (R-278) Further he had purchased the Weaver scope, exhibit 2, together with the shot gun cleaning kit, exhibit 3, recoil pads, exhibit 4, and bird shot .22, exhibit 8 at various times in 1961 from the Harmon store. (R-281) Other exhibits 5 (empty boxes) the contents of which were traded for .06 shells; exhibit 6 (22 bullets) was purchased in cartons through the years; exhibit 7 (empty carton) the contents of which were also purchased.

As to the purported confession, the Appellant stated that he admitted no guilt, but when confronted with possible dishonorable Discharge, loss of citizenship, and such other matters, he agreed to pay for the missing items. (R-288)

The time of sentencing was set for April 1, 1964, at which time the Appellant made a motion for a new trial based on the fact that the evidence submitted in the trial was as a result of an unlawful search and seizure, citing Mapp v Ohio. The court denied motion for a new trial (R-351) and (R-344).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EXHIBITS TWO TO EIGHT OVER THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION THAT SAID EVIDENCE WAS OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF AN UNLAWFUL SEARCH AND SEIZURE; TO WIT.

SUB POINT I. THAT THE SEARCH WAS EXPLORATORY IN NATURE AND CONDUCTED WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT.

SUB-POINT II. THAT THE STATE FAILED TO SHOW CONSENT TO MAKE THE SEARCH.

The record clearly indicates that Calvin Nielson, City Marshall of Manti, together with Leonard Harmon went to the defendant's parents home and searched the house without a search warrant. At the time of the search, the defendant was away on active duty in the United States Air Force. (R-96) There is no doubt that the city marshall had knowledge of the defendant's absence. Not finding anything incriminating in the opening into the rafters of the room occupied by the defendant, Leonard Harman, in the presence of the City Marshall, proceeded to disengage the screws in the old phonograph player (R-116) which was padlocked (R-270) and discovered the following items: (R-96-97)

- 1. 22 shells and cartons—exhibit 2
- 2. Two boxes—exhibit 3
- 3. Two rehead recoil pad in boxes—exhibit 4
- 4. Two boxes—exhibit 5
- 5. Two boxes—exhibit 6
- 6. Boxes of 22 longs—exhibit 7
- 7. Bird shot 22 shot—exhibit 8

The above items were submitted against the defendant over the defendant's objection that the items were taken as a result of an unlawful search and seizure. (R-211)

On June, 1961, The Supreme Court of the United States in *Mapp ve. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 6L Ed. 2d 1081, 81 S.C. 1684, in a precedent shattering decision, held

that as a matter of due process, evidence obtained by a search and seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment is inadmissable in a State Court through the Fourteenth Amendment. The so-called exclusionary rule established in Weeks vs. U.S., (1914) 232 US 383, 58 L.Ed 652, 34 SC 341, LRA 1915 B 834, Ann Cas 1915 C1177, was made expressly applicable to the State of Utah and other states and Wolf vs. Colorado, (1949) 338 U.S. 25, 93 L.Ed. 1782, 69 SC 1359 was overruled. The question, left answered in the Mapp case, as to whether the states were obligated to adopt the Federal standard, and therefore federal precedent, as to unreasonableness of the search and siezure, was answered in Ker vs. California, 374 U.S. 23, 83 S.C., 1623, 10 L.Ed. 726 (1963), wherein the Justice Clark speaking for the majority stated that the Fourth Amendment was enforceable against the state."

> "... by the same sanction of exclusion as in used against the federal government by the application of the same constitutional standard prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures."

The force of the Supreme Court of the United States in this area was made known by Stoner vs. California, 84 S.C. 889, (1964) and Louden vs. State, No. 6 Misc., decided on October 12, 1964, where in the United States Supreme Court in a per curium decision vacated the judgment of conviction of the Utah Court on the bases of Stoner case. Also see Green vs. Yeager, (Habeus Corp-

us Proceeding), 223 R Supp 545 (1963) and Commonwealth vs. Spofford, 180 N.E. 2d 673 (1962) wherein the Court looked to and applied Federal law.

Clearly, the above decisions have greatly affected criminal law in States, such as Utah, that have not had the exclusionary rule. These decisions have forced the States to re-analyze their positions and seek to apply the exclusionary rule in accordance with the Mapp-Ker mandate. In doing so, Massachusetts, Conneticut, New York, and New Jersey, have looked to Federal precedent. Florida and Illinois already having the exclusionary, look to Federal precedents as a matter of policy. (See California and the 4th Amendment, 16 Stan L Rev. 318 (March 1964)).

Pennsylvania stands alone in its quest against the Federal precedents. Utah, prior to *State vs. Lauden*, Supra, was in a similar position. Since the Lauden case, Utah is forced to follow that Federal mandate in regards to reasonableness of the searches and seizures. The law of Utah has clearly been Mapped.

The Appellant contends that the search herein conducted should be condemned as an exploratory in nature and without a search warrant. As a general rule, except as incident to a lawful arrest or invitation or consent without warrant, no search can be made of a private residence without a search warrant. This is necessarily

based upon time honored legal maximum that "every man's house is his castle." The rule as to a private residence applies equally to an apartment or room used as a dwelling by a preson even though the family of such person may be occupying his main abode elsewhere. Moulton vs. State of Oklahoma, 227 P.2d 695, (1951), Billup vs. State, 116 Tex. Cr. 63, 31 SW2d 821. (1930).

The Federal rule in this area indicates that a search warrant must be procurred when "practicable" in the case of a search incident to arrest. Trupianno vs. U.S., 68 Sup. C. 12229, 334 U.S. 699, 92 L.Ed. 1663 C. A. and U.S. vs. Assendio, C. A., Pa., 171 F2d 122. However, to the extent that the Trupianno case requires a search warrant solely on the bases of practicability of procurring it rather than upon the reasonableness of the search after lawful arrest, the case was over-ruled. See U.S. vs. Rabinowitz, 339 U.S. 56, 70 S. C. 430, (1950) wherein the Court stated, in addition to over-ruling Trupianno,

"The relevant test is not whether it is reasonable to procure a search warrant, but whether the search was reasonable. That criterion in turn depends upon the facts and circumstances — the total atmosphere of the case...."

It is submitted that even under the ruling of the last case, the search herein conducted was unreasonable. The Rabinowitz case, supra, stated that the requirement of obtaining a search warrant should not be crystalized

into a sine quo non to reasonableness of a search. Further the court stated that it is not disputed that there may be reasonable searches, incident to an arrest, without a search warrant. In the instance case, there was no arrest at the time of the search. In fact, the defendant was not arrested until some 18 months of the alleged crime. The alleged crime occurred on November 19, 1961, and the search was conducted on November 29, 1962, one year after the date of the crime. Surely, ample opportunity existed to obtain search warrant without unduly infringing upon the investigative prowness of the law enforcement officers. Clearly the instance case does not fall within the language of the Rabinowitz decision when the court stated:

"The judgment of the officers as to when to close trap on a criminal committing a crime in their presence or who they have reasonable cause to believe is committing a felony is not determined solely upon whether there was time to procure a search warrant. Some flexibility will be accorded law officers employed in the daily battle with criminal for whose restraint criminal laws are essential."

To condemn this practice would insure not only the protection of the law officers, but the tradition of our government against search and seizures without warrants.

A correlative factor which must necessarily be considered in determining the reasonablenes of the search

is the fast that the search was a "fishing expedition" on the part of the City Marshall. The search by the City Marshall was exploratory in nature and without sufficient cause. Neither a warrant for arrest was issued, nor had a complaint been issued. That general exploratory searches can not be undertaken with or without search warrant has been settled in the Federal Courts. See Go-Bart Importing Co. vs. U.S., 282, U.S. 344, 75 L.Ed. 374 (1930) and U.S. vs. Lefkowitz, 285 U.S. 452, 52 S. C. 420, 76 L.Ed. 877, 82 ALR 775 (1932). Aside from the fact the defendant was hauling coal to him home on November 18, 1961 from the victim's store (R-39), no other incriminating factors exist to justify the unconstitutional intrusion of the residence where the defendant kept his personal belongings while he was away on the Air Force. On two occasions, the defendant had denied any implications with the larceny (R-94-95) and the City Marshall had searched the barn and granary, not the house, a month and two days after date of crime and found nothing. (R-115). Further, the defendant City Marshall indicated that he could have got a search warrant. (R-115).

To permit such conduct would render our statute (Utah Code Annotated 77-54-1) on obtaining search warrants a nullity and meaningless for the protection of individual safeguards against unconstitutional invasion

The Appellant further contends that the State failed to justify the search of the defendant's room, in the absence of a warrant, on the bases of the defendant's mother's consent. Although the constitutional imunity against unreasonable search and seizure may be waived by volunteer, invitational consent to the search or seizure, 79 C J S Sec. 62, P816; the intent to waive must be positively established, U.S. vs. Lydecker, N.C., N.Y., 275 F 976, U.S. vs. Kelih, D.C. Ill, 272 F 484, and the consent must be real consent; a mere gesture or failure to object may not be enough. People vs. Zeigler, 358 Mich. 355, 100 SW 2d 456 (1960), People vs. Hill 31 Misc. 2d 985, 221 N.Y. S2d, 875. The consent must be voluntary and mere asquiescence in authoriative demands does not effect the necessary waiver of rights. Johnson vs. U.S., 333 U.S. 10 (1948), Amos vs. U.S., 255 U.S. 313 (1921), Clay vs. U.S., 239 F2d 196 (5th Cir. 1956). The Federal Rule is clearly pointed out in U.S. vs. Gregory, D.C., N.J. 204 F Supp. 884 (1962) wherein the Court stated:

"Acquiescence to search without warrant, is resignation, a mere submission in an orderly way to action of arresting agent is not consent which constitutes unequivolcal, free and intelligent waiver of fundamental right."

Taking the record in the light favorable to the state, it would appear that the City Marshall asked the defendant's mother if they could look in her home for the property they suspected the defendant had taken (R-96) to which she said yes. She did ask for search warrant

(R-114). It is submitted that the record does not show that this was other than mere acquiescence to the authority of the law enforcement officers.

The waiver and consent must be shown by convincing, clear and convincing, or clear and positive evidence and the burden rests on the party alleging the waiver; to wit, the appellee. Judd vs. U.S., C.A. 190 F.2d 649. Gibson vs. U.S., 66 S. Ct. 29, 326 U.S. 724, 90 L.Ed. 429; Nueslein vs. District of Columbia, 115 Fed. 2d 690, 73 App. D.C. 85; Edwards vs. State, 177 P.2d 143, 83 Okla. Cr. 340; Dawson vs. State, 175 Pac.2d 368, App. Okla., Cr. 263; Bolger vs. U.S., D.C. N.Y. 189 F. Supp. 237, affirmed C.A. 293 Fed. 2d 368 reversed on other grounds, 83 S. Ct. 385, 371 U.S. 392, 9 L.Ed. 2nd 390. U.S. vs. Rugheiser, D.C. N.Y. 203 F. Supp. 891. U.S. vs. Gregory, D.C. N.Y. 204 F. Supp. 884. Sagonias vs. State, Flo., 89 F. 2d 252. State of Mont. vs. Tomick, 332 F2d 987. State vs. Sheppard, Iowa 124 N.W2d 712. State vs. Collins, Conn. 191 A2d 253. Pekar vs. U.S., 315 F2d 319 (5th Cir. 1963). McDonald vs. U.S., 307 F2d 272 (10th Cir. 1962). Voluntary consent requires sufficient intelligence to appreciate the act as well as the consequences of the acts agreed to. Since the constitutional guarantee is not dependent upon any afffirmative act of the citizen the courts do not place the citizen in a position of either contesting the officer's authority by force or waiving his constitutional rights but instead they hold that a peaceful submission to a search or seizure is not consent or an invitation thereto, but is merely a demonstration of regard to the supremacy of the law.

As illustrative cases on this issue, see following cases where evidence of consent was held insufficient to show voluntary consent:

Herter vs. U.S., CCA. Mont., 27 F2d 521 (1928) where police stated "If you haven't any beer, you do not mind my looking for it."

Smith vs. Commonwealth, 283 Ky. 492, 141 S.W.2d 881, (1940) where defendant said "all right."

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