1965

State of Utah v. Arden E. Tuttle : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE EXHIBITS 2 THROUGH 8 SINCE

- (a) THE APPELLANT MADE NO PRETRIAL MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE EVIDENCE;
- (b) THE APPELLANT FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE EVIDENCE BEING DISCLOSED TO THE JURY AND THE JURY HAD FULL VIEW OF THE EVIDENCE WITHOUT OBJECTION PRIOR TO ITS RECEIPT AND, AS A CONSEQUENCE, THE APPELLANT WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO OBJECT;
- (c) THE APPELLANT WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO OBJECT BY OFFERING AFFIRMATIVE EVIDENCE AS TO EXHIBITS 2 THROUGH 8; AND
- (d) THE EVIDENCE IS CONFLICTING BUT SUPPORTS A FINDING THAT THE SEARCH LEADING TO THE DISCOVERY OF EXHIBITS 2 THROUGH 8 WAS CONDUCTED UPON PROPER CONSENT.

(a) It is submitted that the appellant is precluded from claiming any error on the theory of an illegal search and seizure, since no pretrial motion to suppress evidence was made. It should be noted that the search in question was conducted on November 29, 1962. Subsequently, on December 23rd, the appellant was confronted with the allegation that he stole the guns and other property from Harmon's store. It is clear from the record that appellant and counsel were well aware of the search and the claims

against its legality long before the trial. It is clear there was adequate opportunity for a pretrial motion. None was made. Under these circumstances, it is submitted that this was fatal to any claim of error as to the admissibility of the evidence. Because of the failure to make a pretrial motion, the very evidence sought to be excluded was placed before the jury, and referred to often, prior to the time it was offered as evidence. This had the effect of letting the jury hear everything that, if the claim of illegal search had been valid, they should not have heard. In order to avoid this very problem, the great majority of courts have required that a pretrial motion be made to suppress evidence claimed to have been obtained as the result of an illegal search and seizure and they have held that where the defendant had knowledge prior to trial of the facts, supposedly making out the illegal search, the failure to make a pretrial motion precludes the claim being urged at trial or raised on appeal.

The federal courts have generally required that a motion to suppress be made prior to trial and have ruled that a motion made at the time of trial is untimely. In *United States v. Sansone*, 231 F.2d 887 (2nd Cir. 1956), a claim of error on appeal was denied where a motion to suppress was not made until the time of trial where the search had been made five months prior. See also *Zachary v. United States*, 275 F.2d 793 (6th Cir. 1960); *Karp v. United States*, 277 F.2d 843 (8th Cir. 1960); *United States v. Romero*, 249 F.2d 371 (2nd Cir. 1957); *United States v. Volkell*, 251 F.2d 333 (2nd Cir. 1958), cert. den. 356 U.S. 962; *United States v. Nicholas*, 319 F.2d 697 (2nd Cir. 1963), cert. den. 375 U.S. 933; *United States v. Milnovich*, 303 F.2d 626 (4th Cir. 1962), cert. den. 371 U.S. 876; Rule 41 (e), F. R. C. P.

In *Moore v. United States*, 56 F.2d 794 (10th Cir. 1932), it was stated:

“A notebook was introduced, which had been found in the car, for the purpose of proving ownership of the car. It was admitted and counsel contends this was error, because it was obtained by an illegal search and seizure. It was not error to admit such notebook for two reasons. Moore had knowledge of the seizure at the time it was made and raised no objection until it was offered in evidence. His objection therefore came too late.”

See also *Butler v. United States*, 153 F.2d 993 (10th Cir. 1946).

The majority of state courts also support this rule. In Varon, *Searches, Seizures and Immunities*, Vol. 2, page 661 (1961):

“When an aggrieved person believes incriminatory evidence has been unlawfully taken from his possession, and is intended to be used against him in a criminal prosecution, it is incumbent upon that person to make timely objection to the introduction of such evidence. The failure of a defendant to make such timely motion to suppress, could well foreclose his right to object to the admissibility of evidence wrongfully obtained. When such right is lost to an accused for that reason, the prohibition persists in all future and subsequent proceedings as it has been held that a failure to make timely motion to suppress evidence constitutes a waiver of such right.”

In 50 A.L.R.2d 583, it is stated:

“Assuming that evidence obtained by an unlawful search and seizure is inadmissible, it is necessary for the accused who desires such evidence to be excluded at his trial to make a timely objection to its introduc-

tion; otherwise the right to object is lost. Where no timely motion to suppress the evidence is made, evidence obtained by an unlawful search and seizure is admissible not only in the proceeding in which the constitutional guaranty is waived, but in any and all subsequent proceedings in which it may be material.

* * *

“In most jurisdictions in which evidence obtained by an unlawful search and seizure is inadmissible, the rule prevails that, as a general proposition subject to certain limitations, an objection to evidence as obtained by an unlawful search and seizure comes too late where it has been made the first time at the trial, and not by a pretrial motion to return the property or suppress the evidence. * * *”

In *State v. Conner*, 59 Ida. 695, 89 P.2d 197 (1939), the Idaho Supreme Court expressed the requirement that a pretrial motion to suppress was necessary before illegally obtained evidence could be challenged. The court gave the reasons for the rule:

“* * * It must be borne in mind that a proceeding to suppress evidence, because procured in violation of a defendant’s constitutional rights, is not a part of his trial. It is separate and apart from the trial, and the reason for the rule is that where the defendant has had an opportunity to petition for the suppression of the evidence before the trial he must do so or will be held to have waived it for, to permit inquiry as to the admissibility of the evidence, during the trial, would certainly result in expensive delay and might result in confusion. In view of the purpose of the rule, requiring that the application to suppress be made before trial, it must be and is held to require that it be made early enough, when possible, to cause no interference with the progress of the trial. This cannot be accom-

plished by making the application after the jury has been examined and accepted and before it is sworn."

See also *State v. Spencer*, 74 Ida. 173, 258 P.2d 147 (1953). The following cases have supported that position: *Potman v. State*, 259 Wisc. 234, 47 N.W.2d 884 (1951); *Chicago v. Lord*, 3 Ill. App. 2d 410, 122 N.E.2d 439 (1954); and *State v. McDaniels*, 75 Mont. 61, 243 P. 810 (1925). Cases from courts adopting the exclusionary rule as a result of *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961), have also required that a pre-trial motion to suppress be made. *State v. Bailey*, 23 Conn. Supp. 405, 184 A.2d 61; *State v. Pokini*, 367 P.2d 499 (Hawaii 1961); *Veales v. State*, 374 P.2d 792 (Okla. Crim. 1962); Colorado Rules of Criminal Procedure, 41(e); Hawaii Rules of Criminal Procedure, 41(e). See also *Commonwealth v. Lewis*, 191 N.E.2d 753 (Mass. 1964).

It is submitted, therefore, that by the great weight of authority, a pretrial motion to suppress the evidence, which is claimed to have been obtained as a result of a unconstitutional search and seizure, should have been made. It seems absurd to attempt to try the question of an illegal search, which is principally a question of law for the trial court, before the jury and then advise the jury to disregard what they have seen and thus connected to the accused. It is submitted that the trial court correctly ruled the evidence admissible in this case since the appellant did not make a timely pretrial motion to suppress.

(b) At the time of trial, the prosecutor had marked for identification Exhibits 2 through 8 without objection from the appellant (Tr. 98 to 100).

The testimony of City Marshal Nielson, relating to the recovery of the items from the home of the parents of appellant was also admitted into evidence without objec-

W. Quinn

tion (Tr. 95, 96). Marshal Nielson was cross-examined by the appellant's counsel concerning Exhibits 2 through 8 and the nature of the search conducted at the home of appellant's parents (Tr. 115 to 120). The exhibits were in open court and could be seen by the jury and had been referred to by witnesses. It would appear that undoubtedly reference was made to these exhibits at the time of opening argument and no objection was voiced. The only objection came at the time they were offered, although there had been substantial reference to the exhibits and the jury was clearly apprized of the circumstances of their discovery and their connection with the case. Under these circumstances, it is submitted that appellant waived any basis for objection to the evidence.

In *McDonald v. United States*, 307 F.2d 272 (10th Cir. 1962), the appellant was tried and convicted of transportation in interstate commerce of stolen property. A pretrial motion on behalf of the appellant to suppress the seized evidence was heard before the case going to the jury. The court took the matter under advisement. Counsel for the appellant, while the matter was under advisement, advised the jury of the nature of the search and the fact that the appellant had the property in his possession. On appeal the court ruled that by bringing the evidence before the jury without objection, the appellant could not complain of the admission of the evidence. The court stated:

"Any question that may have existed concerning the admission of the seized property into evidence was disposed of by the opening statement of defense counsel. There, in effect, he admitted defendant's possession of the property, advised the jury of the defendant's explanation of how he came into possession of it and limited the issue in the case to the question of the de-

defendant's knowledge the property had been stolen. The jury was thus advised of the existence and defendant's possession of the very evidence which he sought to have suppressed and kept from the jury's consideration. No legal reason then remained for the suppression of the evidence. Moreover, no necessity then existed for the government to offer such property into evidence nor could any prejudice result to the defendant by its admission, if offered."

In *United States v. Peckham*, 105 Fed. Supp. 775 (D.C. D.C.), defendant was charged with the crime of abortion. The trial court prior to trial had granted a motion to suppress certain evidence. Subsequently, the defendant used the suppressed evidence to refresh his memory, thus in effect bringing the matter before the jury. On motion for new trial, Judge Holtzoff ruled that defendant, by allowing the evidence to come before the jury, had waived the previous benefits given by the suppression order. He stated:

"* * * The defendant waived the benefits by himself producing copies of those cards and using them to refresh his own recollection on the witness stand."

It is submitted that since the appellant allowed the prosecution to place Exhibits 2 through 8 before the jury and allowed witnesses to discuss the recovery of those exhibits so that the jury was fully apprized of their connection to the defendant, the appellant's objection came too late and any claim of illegality has been waived.

(c) Subsequent to the testimony of Marshal Nielson and other witnesses concerning Exhibits 2 through 8, all without objection on the basis of illegal search and seizure, appellant's counsel cross-examined concerning these exhibits and subsequently placed the appellant on the stand, and the appellant testified that he purchased the exhibits. It is

submitted that on the basis of the authorities cited above, the affirmative action by the appellant in presenting evidence to the jury constitutes a waiver of any claim of illegality on appeal.

(d) It is submitted that the trial court properly received into evidence Exhibits 2 through 8. The appellant in his brief confuses the evidence consisting of Exhibits 2 through 8, recovered on November 29th, 1962, with evidence recovered by a private person, Milton Harmon, on or about December 7th (compare Tr. 95 with Tr. 165). On November 29, 1962, the day the evidence consisting of Exhibits 2 through 8 was recovered, City Marshal Nielson in company with Leonard Harmon went to the home of appellant's parents (Tr. 95). Appellant was away in the Air Force and according to Marshal Nielson, they asked Mrs. Tuttle if they could search the whole house and she approved. She asked if they had a search warrant and they told her no. It was asked upon cross-examination of Marshal Nielson if he did not in fact say that they could get one. Marshal Nielson denied making such a statement (Tr. 112 to 115). He further denied making any threats. Leonard Harmon was never called as a witness by either side. Contrary to the assertions made in appellant's brief, the situation in which the padlocked box was unscrewed and items removed is not the same situation as when Exhibits 2 through 8 were recovered from the phonograph (see Exhibits 27 and 28 which are the items allegedly unscrewed which did not contain Exhibits 2 through 8). Therefore, at the time the court received into evidence Exhibits 2 through 8, there was no testimony but the testimony of Marshal Nielson relating to the time he and Leonard Harmon searched the premises with the consent of appellant's mother.

The incident involving the two boxes which were allegedly, unscrewed and the contents recovered occurred thereafter and involved only Milton Harmon, a private person (Tr. 164 and 181). Although there is some evidence in Marshal Nielson's testimony that Leonard Harmon unscrewed a box, it does not appear that this was the phonograph where the items were received but rather it appears to be defendant's Exhibit 28 (Tr. 116). The trial court, therefore, had no evidence contradicting Marshal Nielson at the time Exhibits 2 through 8 were offered. The posture of the evidence at that time clearly indicated that the search was with the consent of the appellant's mother and Exhibits 2 through 8 were found in an old Gramophone. The search had not been over Mrs. Tuttle's protest or a mere acquiescence in police authority. Although subsequently, appellant's mother testified that force had been used to cause her to consent to the search, this evidence came long after the trial court's ruling. It is apparent, therefore, that the conflict in testimony presented an issue of fact for the trial court to rule upon. The trial court saw fit to believe Marshal Nielson and to reject the testimony of Mrs. Tuttle. This being so, there is ample evidence to sustain the trial court's admission. Many basis exist for denying appellant's contentions on appeal.

First, since the appellant did not offer evidence as to any circumstances which would support the lack of consent prior to the court's ruling, consent was demonstrated at the time the trial court received the evidence. Therefore, the receipt was proper.

Second, it appears that at the time the boxes were unscrewed, Mrs. Tuttle might have opened the boxes or, in any event, ~~Milton~~ Milton Harmon, both of whom are private persons. The actions of private persons are not within the

Leonard.

No

No

if private person - then cannot did not go to Milton Harmon

prohibitions of the exclusionary rule against receiving evidence illegally seized. *Burdeau v. McDowell*, 256 U.S. 465 (1921) ; *Search and Seizure Since Mapp*, 36 University of Colorado Law Review 391, 398 (1964) ; *The Federal Law of Search and Seizure*, F.B.I., page 7 (1962).

Third, even if Leonard Harmon, who accompanied Marshal Nielson on the 29th, did unscrew a box, there is no showing that Exhibits 2 through 8 were in that box. The evidence is clearly to the effect that they were found in the Gramophone.

In *State v. Bryan*, 16 U.2d —, 395 P.2d 534 (1964), this court observed that where a party consents to a search, the search is rendered constitutionally unobjectionable. In *Smuk v. People*, 72 Colo. 97, 209 P. 636 (1922), it was recognized that it is permissible for a person who controls the premises to consent to a search being made. In the instant case, it was clear that Arden Tuttle, the appellant, did not own the home where Exhibits 2 through 8 were kept. It does not appear from the record that he was renting or was otherwise in control of any particular area, but was away in the Air Force. A parent may consent to the search of premises he owns which are used by his child. *United States v. Roberts*, 179 F. Supp. (1959) ; *United States v. Rees*, 193 F. Supp. 849 (Md. 1961). In the latter case the facts are almost identical to the facts in the instant case. The home was owned by Mr. and Mrs. Rees, Sr. The court indicated that Mr. and Mrs. Rees had the right to authorize a search of the entire house. The premises were in no way rented to the son. The defendant's mother and father gave the F.B.I. consent to search their home. During the search of the defendant's room, a search was made of a crawl space in the room. Agents found a suitcase tagged

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